narrowing the gap in outcomes:

leadership

Kerry Martin, Pippa Lord, Richard White and Mary Atkinson



How to cite this publication:

Martin, K., Lord, P., White, R. and Atkinson, M. (2009). *Narrowing the Gap in Outcomes: Leadership* (LGA Research Report). Slough: NFER.

Published in June 2009 by the National Foundation for Educational Research, The Mere, Upton Park, Slough, Berkshire SL1 2DQ

www.nfer.ac.uk

© National Foundation for Educational Research 2009 Registered Charity No. 313392 ISBN 978 1 906792 32 9

Contents

Key messages	iv	
1 Introduction		
1.1 Background	1	
1.2 About the study	1	
1.3 Structure of the report	2	
2 Leadership: Has the gap been narrowed?	3	
2.1 Educational outcomes	3	
2.2 Health-related outcomes	5	
2.3 Post-16 education, employment and training (EET) outcomes	5	
2.4 Participation and pupil voice	5	
3 Leadership: How has the gap been narrowed?	7	
3.1 Effective leaders: prioritise the most vulnerable and develop a local vision	9	
3.2 Effective leaders: champion the voice of vulnerable groups and encourage their participation	12	
3.3 Effective leaders: use good quality data to identify needs and provide services for vulnerable groups	13	
3.4 Effective leaders: foster partnership working around vulnerable groups	14	
3.5 Effective leaders: develop and motivate the workforce to improve outcomes	15	
3.6 Effective leaders: have an unrelenting drive and passion to improve outcomes for vulnerable groups	16	
3.7 What are the features of effective leadership at different levels for narrowing the gap?	17	
3.8 Factors influencing effective leadership for narrowing the gap	18	
4 Conclusions	19	
4.1 What gaps have been narrowed?	19	
4.2 What is missing from the evidence?	19	
4.3 What are the distinctive features of leadership for narrowing the gap?	20	
References	21	
Appendix 1: About the literature review	26	
Appendix 2: About the case studies	35	
Appendix 3: Key features of effective leadership from the literature	37	
Appendix 4: Contextual factors that best support local leadership generally	41	
Appendix 5: Factors important for growing and developing leaders of the future	42	



Key messages

This report/paper is based on research conducted by the NFER and commissioned by the LGA for the national Narrowing the Gap team. It aims to identify whether or not leadership has an effective role in narrowing the gap in outcomes between vulnerable children and young people, and other children. The study included a literature review and interviews with case study local authorities.

Has leadership helped narrow the gap in outcomes?

The literature reviewed provides little evidence of the impacts of leadership whether at an operational, strategic or political level, on outcomes for children and young people. The literature is particularly limited in terms of evidencing the contribution of leadership to narrowing the gap. In contrast however, interviewees from the case-study phase of this research were able to identify where particular gaps in outcomes had been narrowed and determine a link with effective leadership, albeit often indirect and mediated through other factors.

The impact of leadership on narrowing the gap was most often evidenced in relation to educational achievement and to improving outcomes for looked after children (LAC). The contribution of leadership to narrowing the gap was also identified in terms of health-related outcomes, post-16 education, employment and training outcomes (EET), and the participation and voice of vulnerable groups. Although the evidence for this is based mainly on perception, rather than direct demonstrable links, this would suggest that the role of effective leadership in narrowing the gap should not be ignored.

How has leadership helped to narrow the gap?

Effective leadership for narrowing the gap is not fundamentally different from effective leadership generally. However, the gap appears to be narrowed through leadership which emphasises the following six key ingredients:

- Prioritising the most vulnerable and developing a local vision: being responsive to the local circumstances and targeting those in the locality with the most need; developing shared priorities among all partners; prioritising resources for vulnerable groups; establishing a clear vision tied into local plans, policies and targets; championing the vision for vulnerable groups from the top and to all partners; and ensuring staff understand what needs to be achieved and how their role contributes to improving outcomes.
- Championing the voice of vulnerable groups and encouraging their participation: establishing meaningful methods of consultation; having a genuine commitment to listen to service users and act on what they say (e.g. in terms of service design and delivery); championing joint ownership of corporate parenting responsibilities and championing the needs of vulnerable groups though partnership working.
- Using good quality data to identify needs and provide services for vulnerable groups: collecting 'real time' intelligence on emerging needs; gathering information directly from children and young people, their

families and the local community; drawing together local intelligence from front line staff; establishing a baseline from which progress can be measured; setting appropriate actions and targets; monitoring and reviewing progress towards improving outcomes; and having the skills to analyse and interpret data on vulnerable groups.

- Fostering partnership working around vulnerable groups: being committed to joint working which focuses on the most vulnerable; facilitating collaborative working though joint planning, commissioning and pooled budgets; implementing multiagency locality locality-based teams; and fostering a notion of collective responsibility.
- Developing and motivating the workforce to improve outcomes for vulnerable groups: ensuring that staff have an understanding of the vision for narrowing the gap; making it clear to staff how their roles contribute to improving outcomes; developing the emotional connection staff have with vulnerable young people; developing staff to work in partnership to meet the needs of vulnerable groups; encouraging and facilitating the sharing of good practice; and providing access to staff training and development.
- Having an unrelenting drive and passion to improve outcomes for vulnerable groups: having a genuine empathy and commitment to support the most vulnerable; instilling a 'can do ethos' and an expectation that the vision will be delivered; rearticulating the vision; ensuring that staff have continued commitment to the vision and are held accountable for meeting its targets; monitoring and reviewing progress; engendering a culture of support and trust; and fostering a professional learning culture that encourages innovation.

The main distinction between leadership for narrowing the gap and leadership in general is the unremitting focus on vulnerable groups, which is driven forward by those with a strong desire to improve outcomes for the most disadvantaged children and young people.

What are the outstanding evidence gaps and issues for attention?

The NFER's previous review of research findings for narrowing the gap (Kendall *et al.*, 2007a) found limited evidence of leadership contributing to improving outcomes generally. This current, more extensive review of the literature supports these initial findings and identifies only a few studies which refer to the role of leaders in improving in outcomes. There is a particular deficit in terms of evidence explicitly linking leadership to narrowing the gap.

While the case-study phase of this research was able to demonstrate a link between leadership and outcomes, and more specifically the contribution of leadership to narrowing the gap, this was on a small scale and the evidence base is not comprehensive. Although there is some evidence linking leadership for narrowing the gap with improvements in educational achievement and outcomes for LAC, there is a particular need to tease out, for example, the role of leadership in improving other ECM outcomes (e.g. staying safe and making a positive contribution) and for other vulnerable groups. Links between the central elements of good leadership and prespecified outcomes were difficult to ascertain. Further work is therefore necessary to help leaders to realise and articulate the links between leadership and outcomes. An audit trail to provide further evidence of how leaders actually impact on outcomes would be beneficial. This could be used to develop the practice of existing leaders; inform the training and development opportunities for developing leaders; and identify prerequisites in terms of the qualities and skills required of leaders in the future.

1 Introduction

Through the Local Government Association (LGA) research programme, the national Narrowing the Gap (NtG) team commissioned the NFER to conduct research into leadership in relation to the Narrowing the Gap agenda. The research focuses on the key features of leadership necessary to narrow the gap in outcomes for vulnerable groups, and explores whether leadership that is effective for narrowing the gap is different from leadership that is effective generally. This report will be of interest to directors of children's services, children's trust board members, policy makers, senior leaders and managers within local authorities, the National Health Service (NHS), schools, and the third sector. A parallel research report by the NFER focuses on governance for narrowing the gap (Lord *et al.*, 2009a). Further information can also be found in a joint paper on the relationship between leadership and governance for narrowing the gap (Lord *et al.*, 2009b).

1.1 Background

Since the publication of the Children Act (England and Wales. Statutes, 2004), local authorities and their partners have been working to support and improve outcomes for all children and young people in relation to the Every Child Matters (ECM) agenda. Whilst there is a drive to improve outcomes for all, there is also a particular need to improve outcomes for vulnerable groups, and 'to narrow the gap' between these groups and other children and young people.

Introduced in 2004, ECM has brought about systemic change to improving outcomes for every child through agencies and services working together effectively to deliver integrated services that address the needs of children and young people (DCSF, 2008a). Revised statutory guidance on the roles and responsibilities of the lead members and directors of children's services (DCS) is currently undergoing consultation (DCSF, 2008b). The guidance aims to explain how these roles are distinct yet complementary, and how working together they can drive forward improvements in outcomes for all children and young people, and narrow the gap for disadvantaged groups.

Narrowing the gap in outcomes between vulnerable groups and all other groups of children requires systems change on a large scale. 'Transformational change' is widely seen by government as the form of change most relevant for those managing change in public services (McCrone *et al.*, 2009, forthcoming). Transformational change is 'change initiated and led from the top, but detailed changes in working practices emerge through a process that engages and involves many people throughout an organisation'. Systems change on a large scale necessitates strong leadership in all areas but particularly for those staff with strategic influence and budgetary control.

1.2 About the study

In order to inform the Department for Children Schools and Families (DCSF) and LGA's work on Narrowing the Gap, this study aimed to identify what is known about the features of leadership that are best able to influence a narrowing of the gap in outcomes for vulnerable groups of children and young people.

Through a literature review and case studies from local authorities, this research aimed to address:

- What are the key features of leadership necessary to achieve change and narrow the gap in outcomes for vulnerable groups?
- Is leadership that is effective for narrowing the gap different from leadership that is effective generally?
- Are there any significant contextual factors or conditions that have supported local leadership in relation to children's services?
- What is most important in terms of growing and developing local leaders of the future?

The project was carried out in two phases:

- Phase one: a literature review of evidence of how leadership has contributed and been applied to narrowing the gap. This phase also included obtaining examples of current practice through an email request to local authorities (August-October 2008).
- Phase two: in-depth case studies in five local authorities (November 2008-February 2009), involving 25 interviews with a range of staff including directors and assistant directors of children's services, councillors/lead members, strategic managers, and chairs of governing boards.

Further details about the literature review, including the search strategy, can be found in Appendix 1. Appendix 2 provides further details on the case studies.

1.3 Structure of the report

Findings from the research are presented under the following chapter headings:

- Chapter 2: Leadership: has the gap been narrowed?
- Chapter 3: Leadership: how has the gap been narrowed?
- Chapter 4: Conclusions, including:
 - What gaps have been narrowed?
 - What is missing from the evidence?
 - What are the distinctive features of leadership for narrowing the gap?

2 Leadership: Has the gap been narrowed?

This chapter sets out evidence from the literature review and the case studies that indicates leadership has contributed to narrowing the gap in outcomes between vulnerable groups and other children. The literature does not provide strong evidence of improved outcomes or narrowed gaps that are directly related to leadership. Studies indicate that while effective leaders are instrumental in bringing about the conditions for improvements for children and young people (see Appendix 3), leaders and their actions have 'small and indirect effects' on outcomes for children and young people (NCSL, 2008a). The case studies, however, do highlight examples where, through the contribution of leadership, the gap is being narrowed in terms of:

- educational outcomes
- health-related outcomes
- post-16 education, employment and training outcomes (EET)
- participation and voice.

It is difficult for local authorities to accurately measure how they have narrowed the gap over a period of time. Quantification of narrowed gaps depends on year-on-year trends (i.e. through comparison of year-on-year cohorts). There are three key issues in particular. Firstly, the numbers of young people for whom such measures apply are small compared with the general local population (thus statistical comparison with the whole population can be seen as 'crude'). Secondly, each cohort, indeed each individual, is different (thus year-on-year comparisons are not comparing like with like). Thirdly, results for all children can shift upwards (as in one of the case-study authorities) and the gap is not necessarily being narrowed. Here, the challenge to narrow the gap thus becomes even greater.

Throughout this chapter, case-study findings are presented first and, where available, evidence from the literature review follows.

2.1 Educational outcomes

Evidence that effective leadership contributes to narrowing the gap in educational outcomes is provided by interviewees in the case-study authorities. Many referred to improved educational outcomes for vulnerable children through strong leadership at all levels – authority, local and school level – that focuses on vulnerable groups.

Examples of narrowed gaps include the educational achievement of looked after children (LAC), black and minority ethnic (BME) groups, and children with learning difficulties and disabilities (LDD). Having a strategic focus on school leadership and school improvement is also felt to be important in contributing to narrowing gaps in educational achievement.

Box 1 Narrowing the gap: educational achievement

• GCSE results for LAC have improved in an authority since taking a more integrated approach to LAC and demonstrating strong leadership (including lead member involvement) in its school improvement services (Authority C).

- LAC key stage 2 performance has improved in an authority where the DCS and political leaders champion the LAC agenda and challenge schools to monitor and improve progress (Authority B).
- Achievement for LAC at key stages 2 and 4 has improved in an authority where there is a virtual academy for LAC and a drive from the top to prioritise work for vulnerable groups (Authority E).
- Foundation Stage Profiles have improved for vulnerable children in an authority where there is felt to be strong leadership at the local level (Authority C).
- BME achievement has improved, and in some cases outperformed all pupils, in an authority with a sustained focus on the attainment of pupils from minority ethnic communities. This focus is driven by leadership from the top (Authority E).
- The gap between poor white boys' and other groups' educational achievement is being narrowed in an authority that has channeled school funding support into its more deprived areas (Authority B).
- Educational outcomes for children with LDD are improving in an authority with a dedicated LDD plan, as well as a plan for all children to achieve the five ECM outcomes (Authority B).

Other narrowed gaps in education outcomes which relate to effective leadership include improved school attendance for LAC and BME groups, and better school transitions for children with LDD. For example, leaders in one case-study local authority established a transition team for such children (Authority A) and, in another, leaders ensured that children with LDD are included within a universal approach to school improvements (Authority C).

In the initial review of the research findings for narrowing the gap in outcomes for vulnerable groups by Kendall et al., (2007a) found empirical evidence to suggest that school leaders and types of leadership (e.g. transformational) could have an impact on student outcomes and performance as measured by pupil achievement, engagement and motivation. Harker et al., (2004), for example, highlighted that the provision of cross-agency training improved the educational experiences and outcomes for LAC. Similarly, a report for NCSL on ECM projects identified that attainment gaps had narrowed for pupils entitled to free school meals and for those with SEN, in full service extended schools (NCSL, 2008a). They attribute these improvements to the effects of these schools 'targeting pupils in serious difficulties with different types of mentoring and pastoral support programmes and family interventions' (Cummings et al., 2007, p. 36). Leadership plays an indirect role in this: extended school leaders ensure that vulnerable pupils' needs are met by identifying and arranging input from appropriate services (for example, input from health services, providing access to counselling and bereavement help, and advice on smoking and contraception). However, the literature highlights that it is difficult to attribute improvements in pupil attainment to school leadership due to other mediating factors such as other teachers/colleagues, the organisation of the school (Kendall et al., 2007a), and other influencing factors outside of school such as the family (NCSL, 2008a).

2.2 Health-related outcomes

'Being healthy' outcomes have been improved for vulnerable groups in some of the case-study authorities as a result of leadership practice. Strong leadership from both the local authority and health is perceived to be important. Examples of the narrowed gap in health-related outcomes are cited for LAC, teenage pregnancy and the Child and Adult Mental Health Service (CAMHS) service users.

Box 2 Narrowing the gap: health-related outcomes

- Being healthy outcomes for LAC have improved where local authorities and their health services have taken joint leadership and responsibility for improving these children's health. Examples include the Healthy Schools Programme (Authority D), a LAC nurse in every school (Authority A), and locality partnerships between the PCT, children's centres and schools (Authority B).
- Teenage pregnancy rates have been reduced in an authority where leaders have championed new ways of working such as preventative work on healthy lifestyles (Authority A).
- CAMHS services have been transformed in one authority by having all initial assessments carried out within 48 hours of referral. Strong leadership from health services and the local authority is cited as supporting a whole system transformational change programme in CAMHS. This programme includes joint commissioning and pooling of budgets, single points of access to health services from tiers 1 to 3, and child and family intervention work at the time of the initial assessment (Authority A).

2.3 Post-16 education, employment and training (EET) outcomes

There is some case-study evidence that effective leadership contributes to narrowing the gap for those progressing to post-16 education, employment and training (EET) (i.e. economic wellbeing outcomes). Gaps have been narrowed particularly for care leavers and young offenders and reductions in the number of LAC not in education, employment and training (NEET) have also been recorded. Again, leadership practice which focuses on the most vulnerable is felt to be key.

2.4 Participation and pupil voice

Vulnerable groups' participation has increased in local authorities where children and young people are consulted on their views (e.g. through surveys, school forums and LAC councils). Political leaders ensure that the voice of the most vulnerable is heard at all levels (e.g. at the school level through chairing school forums, and at the strategic level through sitting on or chairing the Children and Young People's Board).

Parents' participation has also increased through improved access to services (e.g. through extended schools). School re-organisation and improvement, driven by effective leadership were strategic drivers to this in one authority (Authority C).



Box 3 Narrowing the gap: participation and pupil voice

- LAC have a more active voice in one local authority through being consulted about their views, and having leaders who share and promote their voice to others, for example, a designated LAC virtual head (Authority A).
- One local authority has introduced 'community parents' who act as a link between vulnerable families and the services or support they need. This has increased vulnerable young people's levels of participation. Effective and non-hierarchical leadership at the local authority is seen as key to this scheme's success (Authority D).

There is some evidence, although limited, from the literature review that prioritising and facilitating young people's involvement in local decision-making processes can have positive impacts on outcomes (Kendall *et al.*, 2007a).

3 Leadership: How has the gap been narrowed?

This chapter details the key features of effective leadership that have contributed to narrowing the gap in outcomes between vulnerable groups and other children. While the literature provides fairly limited evidence of improved outcomes or narrowed gaps that are directly related to effective leadership, interviewees in the case-study local authorities identify some essential ingredients of leadership required for improving outcomes for vulnerable groups. Whilst many of these features reflect the key principles of effective leadership in general (see Appendix 3 for an overview of the literature), particular emphasis is placed on some of these key features in order to narrow the gap.

Effective leaders contribute to narrowing the gap by:

- prioritising the most vulnerable and develop a local vision
- championing the voice of vulnerable groups and encourage their participation
- using good quality data to identify needs and provide services for vulnerable groups
- fostering partnership working around vulnerable groups
- developing and motivate the workforce to improve outcomes for vulnerable groups
- having an unrelenting drive and passion to improve outcomes for vulnerable groups.

Box 4 Overview of effective features of leadership for narrowing the gap in outcomes

Effective leaders: prioritise the most vulnerable and develop a local vision: they:

- identify and prioritise the most vulnerable children and young people
- are responsive to the local circumstances and target those in the locality with the most need
- develop shared priorities among all partners for narrowing the gap
- prioritise resources for vulnerable groups
- establish a clear vision for improving outcomes and champion this from the top
- · research local need and analyse data
- · establish narrowing the gap as 'core business'
- establish a clear direction tied into local plans, policies and targets
- ensure the workforce understand how their role contributes to improving outcomes
- · communicate the vision to all partners
- develop clear frameworks for policy implementation.

Effective leaders: champion the voice of vulnerable groups and encourage their participation: they:

- encourage involvement of the most marginalised groups
- · establish meaningful methods of consultation
- have a genuine commitment to listen to service users and act on what they say
- · champion joint ownership of corporate parenting responsibilities
- champion the needs of vulnerable groups though partnership working
- monitor and challenge to ensure that the most appropriate services are delivered in the most effective way.

Effective leaders: use good quality data to identify needs and provide services for vulnerable groups: they:

- · collect 'real time' intelligence on emerging needs
- gather information directly from children and young people, their families and the local community
- · draw together local intelligence from front-line staff
- · establish a baseline from which progress can be measured
- monitor and review progress towards improving outcomes
- have the skills to analyse and interpret data on vulnerable groups.

Effective leaders: foster partnership working around vulnerable groups: they:

- are committed to joint working and encourage collaboration among the wider workforce
- forge partnerships at all levels
- · ensure that joint working focuses on the most vulnerable
- facilitate collaborative working though joint planning and commissioning and pooled budgets
- ensure the sharing of effective practice and a holistic view of outcomes among staff
- develop a commitment to improving outcomes among partners and foster the notion of collective responsibility for vulnerable groups.

Effective leaders: develop and motivate the workforce to improve outcomes for vulnerable groups: they:

- ensure that the workforce have an understanding of the vision for narrowing the gap
- · make clear to staff how their roles contribute to improving outcomes
- develop the emotional connection staff have with vulnerable young people
- develop staff to work in partnership
- · encourage and facilitate the sharing of good practice
- · provide access to staff training and development
- provide cross-agency training.

Effective leaders: have an unrelenting drive to improve outcomes for vulnerable groups: they:

- have a strong unrelenting drive of the vision for vulnerable groups and lead from the top
- instil a 'can do ethos' and an expectation to deliver the vision
- ensure that the workforce has continued commitment to the vision and are held accountable for it
- rearticulate the vision and maintain a continued focus on this as 'core business'
- monitor and review progress and bring staff back to the vision if they get distracted
- · have a genuine empathy and commitment to support the most vulnerable
- have skills to articulate the vision
- engender a culture of support and trust and foster a professional learning culture which is reflective and innovative.

These key features are explained further and, within each section, casestudy findings are presented first followed by evidence from the literature review, where relevant. This chapter also explores the features of effective leadership at different levels (political, strategic and operational) and concludes with a summary of the factors influencing effective leadership for narrowing the gap.

3.1 Effective leaders: prioritise the most vulnerable and develop a local vision

Interviewees believe that effective leaders identify and prioritise vulnerable groups, and make a strategic decision to target those most in need. They focus on addressing the specific needs of vulnerable groups (and individuals) in order to achieve change.

We don't need to be spending time monitoring our general population because they're doing really well. We have to spend our energy as a collective partnership on the most vulnerable. (Authority A)

In a place like [name of local authority] many of our children are vulnerable so we like to think we are tackling issues on behalf of all children in the area but within that we have identified our particularly vulnerable groups. (Authority D)

Effective leaders ensure that narrowing the gap in outcomes for vulnerable groups is a priority not only for those working in children's services and specialist services but also for those in universal services. This ensures all staff across all services share the same priorities, and are working towards the same goals.

Box 5 Narrowing the gap: prioritising vulnerable groups

- NEET: In 2005, this local authority was a national hotspot for NEETs (16–18 years old). A strategic decision was made to target this group in order to improve outcomes. A partnership group comprising local colleges, the voluntary and commercial sector, and Jobcentre Plus developed a strategic plan for targeting individual young people and providing them with one-to-one support. Local leaders shifted provision from universal settings to two pilot programmes providing support in young people's homes, where staff worked with them and their families in the evenings. At the end of 2008, the local authority's NEET rate had fallen from 14 to 7.6 per cent. There are plans to extend this programme of support across the authority (Authority B).
- LAC: This local authority set up a virtual academy in order to improve outcomes for LAC. The virtual headteacher draws together all the information on LAC, monitors their performance through a personal tracking system and identifies where they need further support. Staff working with a LAC are better informed about their progress and the support they require to improve outcomes: 'I think we understand the landscape better than we did several years ago. So we understand what the issues are around LAC' (Authority E).

Effective leaders are responsive to local circumstances. They research local needs and analyse data on vulnerable groups (see section 3) in order to develop an understanding of the local situation. They set out clear goals for improving outcomes which are tied into local plans, policies and targets, and convey these to others: One of our interviewees told us: 'there must be a clear and simple message that narrowing the gap is core business.'

The golden thread running through the corporate plan is the agenda around narrowing the gap ... In terms of the corporate direction of the council over the next 5-10 years, we definitely see narrowing the gap as the key challenge. (Authority B)

They've [vulnerable groups] been prioritised in terms of our children's plans; they've been prioritised in terms of the work that we do through the partnership and our sub-boards that support that partnership to really focus on whatever we're doing, what's happening in that area with our vulnerable groups. (Authority E)

Effective leaders establish a clear vision for improving outcomes for vulnerable groups and ensure all staff are clear about what needs to be achieved and how they can contribute. They are able to back up the rhetoric with evidence:

It's pretty hard to ignore the gap in outcomes for the most and least advantaged ... that constant use of evidence has been an important thing for us. (Authority B)

They champion the vision from the top and communicate the vision to all partners at all levels so everyone understands and signs up to the outcomes they are working towards.

Nobody in the authority could be in any doubt as to what our priorities have been. Narrowing the gap is explicitly referenced in the council's five corporate priorities and in associated objectives, and that's been articulated very powerfully by our lead member for children and by me. (Authority B)

There's a very clear political steer now, that wasn't there previously, that addressing the inequalities agenda is the number one priority. Key politicians are trying to champion the narrowing the gap agenda, in every way we can. So from a political level, we've given it a much harder edge than hitherto. (Authority B)

Box 6 Narrowing the gap: ensuring a shared vision

- Regular meetings with school governors encourage a shared vision for narrowing the gap across a local authority's county. Conferences with headteachers and governors help to ensure they are signed up to the agenda. The lead member for children's services articulates the local authority's vision to schools and business groups, and talks to newly appointed members (Authority C).
- Many service professionals are linked to a particular area and prioritise the needs of local people. Effective leadership in a local authority focuses these professional's efforts on the needs of the vulnerable in their catchment areas (Authority D).

Effective leaders identify particular areas of work which will make the most difference to outcomes and prioritise resources for vulnerable groups.

Box 7 Narrowing the gap: prioritising resources for vulnerable groups

In this local authority leaders focused on addressing the link between deprivation and attainment. Following a comprehensive consultation with schools, they changed the formula for school funding so that released funds are allocated according to deprivation factors. The funding is used by schools to directly support the social and emotional needs of vulnerable young people. The local authority's scrutiny committee has given prior notice to schools that they will be asked to evidence how the money has been used for narrowing the gap and what the impact has been. The local authority is also investing additional funding for social care teams in deprived areas.

We've put our money where our mouths are. We've actually invested either new money in these areas, or we've diverted money from more affluent areas into our more deprived areas ... [it's not] just rhetoric and warm words.

It shifted pretty much all our available resource around deprivation, and this meant that the most deprived primary schools, for example, might be getting £70-80,000 more ... and in the case of the most deprived secondary schools, into the hundreds of thousands of pounds. (Authority B)

Whilst the literature identifies effective leaders achieve change by developing a vision for services in their local area, establishing clear priorities and having strategic drive (NCSL, 2008b; Utting *et al.*, 2008; DCSF, 2008c; Bond, 2004a) (see Appendix 3), this is not linked to narrowing the gap. However, in the context of improving outcomes, the literature does

emphasise the need for leaders to be child focused (Bond, 2004b). Leaders are identified as being instrumental in ensuring that all those working with children and young people are clear about their own role and the roles of others, and understand the difference they and their services can make (DCSF, 2008c). At a political level, effective leaders (e.g. lead members for children's services) take responsibility for driving forward the narrowing the gap agenda and champion joint ownership of corporate parenting responsibilities with elected members (White *et al.*, 2008).

3.2 Effective leaders: champion the voice of vulnerable groups and encourage their participation

To narrow the gap, interviewees believe that effective leaders encourage the involvement of the most marginalised groups. They have a genuine commitment to listening to service users and acting on what they say (i.e. to inform planning and services). Having a leader, particularly the lead member for children's services, to champion the voice of vulnerable groups is said to be essential for improving outcomes.

Box 8 Narrowing the gap: championing the voice of vulnerable groups and encouraging their participation

 The lead member meets with universal services on a half-termly basis to discuss LAC, attends LAC support groups and networks, and is the quasi-chair of governors for a virtual school for LAC. The local authority also employs participation officers and funds project work to ensure vulnerable young people are included in the local authority's consultation and decision-making processes. The local authority helps young people participate by developing their presentation and communication skills (Authority C).

The literature also identifies that effective leaders focus on involving children and families by adopting an approach that has service users at its core. This includes facilitating the involvement of children and families in service design and delivery, and working actively to build their knowledge and trust (NCSL, 2008b; Aubrey et al., 2005; DfES, 2006; Lownsborough and O'Leary, 2005) (see Appendix 3). Specifically for improving outcomes and narrowing the gap, the literature highlights that effective leaders recognise the role that communities can have in facilitating ECM outcomes (NCSL, 2008b). Effective leaders work with young people to increase their engagement in local democracy to ensure their perspectives are genuinely considered in policy development. Examples include developing the Children and Young People's Plan) CYPP and including the views of young people in performance management and quality assurance procedures (Ofsted, 2007). They also advocate for the 'needs and rights of underserved groups' within the overall remit of safeguarding and promoting the welfare of the child (DfES, 2006; p.8; Harker et al., 2004).

3.3 Effective leaders: use good quality data to identify needs and provide services for vulnerable groups

Interviewees believe that key to narrowing the gap is understanding the needs of the vulnerable, and using this information to plan and develop services. Effective leaders have access to good quality information and data from which to conduct an analysis of need. They have the skills to analyse and interpret data on vulnerable groups to develop a good understanding of the local context in order to set appropriate actions and targets. They gather information directly from children and young people, their families and the local community, and from those working with vulnerable groups. They listen to the views of front-line staff about what they consider to be the main priorities.

Part of the progress has been in identifying within localities excluded groups and the groups where there will be a difference in outcomes. This is more about having local intelligence rather than a blanket response such as saying we will aim to narrow the gap for teenage parents, and it may be an issue in some districts and not in others. (Authority C)

Effective leaders establish a baseline and monitor and review progress towards improving outcomes. If there is a lack of progress, they intervene and re-profile the work. They identify 'what works' in terms of support for vulnerable groups and use this information to inform the further commissioning of services in order to narrow the gap. Effective leaders also ensure there are appropriate systems in place to monitor the use and impact of resources allocated to improving outcomes.

Box 9 Narrowing the gap: access to good quality information and data on vulnerable groups

- Partnership working between the local authority and schools highlighted a small group of Afghani pupils at risk of underachieving. The partnership working arrangements between the local authority and the schools meant that action could be taken quickly to allocate the necessary extra resources to support these pupils (Authority E).
- In this local authority, leaders are supported by an information manager. They use an exception reporting method and produce monthly reports for the leaders highlighting issues in communities that have been identified through a traffic light system. Data obtained in this way informs discussions about individuals and groups of young people (Authority C).

The literature review echoes the findings in the case studies. Leadership in the *ECM Premium Project*, for example, ensured that vulnerable pupils' needs were identified and appropriate services put in place to maximise their educational progress. Interventions delivered through extended schools led to positive outcomes and increased attainment for pupils facing particular disadvantages and barriers to learning and participation (NCSL, 2008a). Similarly, Ofsted (2007) notes that, when the strategic aims and operations of the local authority are based on a thorough analysis of data and information concerning local needs, this contributes to effective management practices for narrowing the gap.

3.4 Effective leaders: foster partnership working around vulnerable groups

Another key ingredient believed by interviewees to be effective for narrowing the gap is for leaders to be collaborative, to have commitment to partnership working, and to encourage this among the wider workforce. Improving outcomes requires services to work in partnership in order to support the wide and varied needs of vulnerable groups.

It's recognising that closing the gap is not something that one agency can do on its own. To improve outcomes you have to also look at improving health outcomes, the lack of family aspiration, you have to take a holistic approach to what you're trying to do. (Authority B)

There is a much more coherent and joined up thinking across the partners about how we all contribute to each other's efforts to narrow the gap. (Authority B)

Effective leaders are excellent communicators and have good relationships with key partners. They have an important role forging partnerships at all levels to ensure that joint working focuses on the most vulnerable. To narrow the gap, effective leaders create teams made up of staff from all relevant services. They co-locate services which have a key role in supporting vulnerable groups to ensure there is a holistic view of outcomes among staff. They collaborate across agencies, provide direction and support to partners and ensure effective practice is shared. They instil a commitment to improving outcomes for vulnerable groups amongst partners and a foster notion of collective responsibility. Developing good working relationships, together with joint planning and commissioning (including budget alignment), is crucial:

The difference was the people working together and the way that they were helping each other to meet targets. Fundamentally people working together, building relationships and trust will really make a difference. (Authority C)

Sharing leadership, connecting and working in partnership with other people, strategically aligning resources around the things that make a difference. (Authority D)

Box 10 Narrowing the gap: partnership working around vulnerable groups

- Work by leaders in this local authority helped to improve relationships with schools. There are regular meetings between departmental management and headteachers, which engender feelings of working together to improve outcomes and help to establish clear priorities (Authority C).
- Leaders in local schools have used combined resources to jointly fund home-school development workers with a remit to narrow the gap. They engage children in schools and work with their parents to improve, for example, attendance and punctuality (Authority B).

- Leaders have developed good partnership working in localities to address health issues. There are successful partnerships between the PCT, children's centres and schools working to improve health outcomes (Authority D).
- In this local authority, the lead member's office moved to the children's services department: 'The gains are huge. The staff see me in their department and we have the repartee. I talk to them and they talk to me. What you have is the joining together of the political and the professional processes in a way that is showing pretty good dividends.' Such working arrangements help to establish the vision for narrowing the gap and develop good networks (Authority C).
- In this local authority, leaders have organised staff into teams based on the ECM outcomes rather than service areas. Events and workshops enable staff to share progress in their ECM outcome team with the other teams (Authority E).

The importance of leadership in the successful development of partnership working for improving outcomes is also supported by the literature. For example, Ofsted highlights that effective strategic leadership promotes the need to embed partnership working within the cultures of organisations delivering services to children and young people (Ofsted, 2007). Effective leaders also support partnership working through the development of policy statements and frameworks emphasising the need for a corporate approach to improve outcomes for particular groups e.g. LAC (Harker *et al.*, 2004). The Children's Workforce Development Council's (CWDC) practitioners' guidance for lead professionals highlights the benefits a strategically coordinated and integrated approach can have on impacts, particularly for those children at risk of poor outcomes requiring additional support from services (CWDC, 2007).

3.5 Effective leaders: develop and motivate the workforce to improve outcomes

Interviewees believe that leaders require a workforce who are motivated and who have the necessary skills required for their role. Effective leaders ensure that staff have an understanding of the vision for narrowing the gap, and that improving outcomes is a priority for them. They make it clear to the workforce how their roles contribute to improving outcomes. They work to develop the emotional connection of staff with vulnerable young people and encourage and facilitate the sharing of good practice.

Box 11 Narrowing the gap: motivating and developing the workforce

In this local authority, through their corporate parenting role, leaders champion the vision for vulnerable groups and motivate the workforce to improve outcomes though various actions. The Director of Children's Services (DCS) writes to all headteachers asking about the individual achievement of LAC in their school to emphasise the authority's focus. The DCS also writes to the Connexions Personal Advisors of all LAC who do not have a complete action plan, to emphasise their role as corporate parent.

'I'd say, so when's my 'Karen' going to get her action plan?... they thought it was barmy, but what it did was it brought it back onto people's agenda'.

The local authority has also sent out thank you letters where progress had been made for LAC, to celebrate achievement (Authority B).

Within the literature, Hallinger (2003) supports this view and suggests transformational leadership is required by leaders to succeed at convincing teachers and other school staff to change and embrace 'new' or different ways of working (such as the pursuit of the extended school agenda) in order to narrow the gap outcomes. Effective leadership encourages staff buy-in to the vision of delivering effective ECM outcomes (especially for vulnerable groups) by targeting individual staff members identified as being particularly receptive to the change agenda (Kendall *et al.*, 2007b). The literature also identifies staff training and development as contributing to positive outcomes for children and young people. One study, for example, highlighted cross-agency training as a way of developing staff to improve the educational experiences and outcomes for LAC (Harker *et al.*, 2004).

3.6 Effective leaders: have an unrelenting drive and passion to improve outcomes for vulnerable groups

Interviewees believe that a strong unrelenting drive to improve outcomes for vulnerable groups is crucial to narrowing the gap.

I've called it 'conspicuous care' – a drive coming from the top is essential ... Not settling for second best ... an absolute drive to improve those outcomes. Securing that commitment from all partners that this is absolutely where we want to be and this is what we have to do for our vulnerable groups to improve outcomes. (Authority E)

Effective leaders instil a 'can do ethos' and a culture of high expectations. They ensure there is an expectation that the vision for narrowing the gap will be delivered. They ensure there is continued commitment to this vision and staff are held accountable for it. Effective leaders rearticulate the vision and remind staff of its importance if they get distracted. At the same time effective leaders monitor and review progress.

Those leaders who do make a difference have a deep moral purpose and they don't back off easily if they get knocked down, they just get back up again and they also accept that they can't do everything themselves and that they are not the complete leader and that they need to work with other people. (Authority D)

In order to drive forward the vision for narrowing the gap, leaders require a genuine empathy and commitment to support the most vulnerable. They want to make a difference to children and young people at the margins of society, and have passion and energy for improving outcomes.

[An essential feature of effective leadership for narrowing the gap is] ...people who are passionate about vulnerable kids, people whose heart goes out to those children and families whose circumstances are the challenging and difficult. They also need a sense of injustice. They are the

driving force for finding out what we need to do differently and bringing about change. (Authority A)

Effective leaders articulate the vision for improving outcomes for the most vulnerable and ensure staff have a good attitude towards vulnerable children and young people. Working to narrow the gap necessitates a long-term a commitment and may require a 'leap of faith' for some. Effective leaders motivate staff and engender a culture of support and trust. They foster a reflective and professional learning culture that encourages innovation.

3.7 What are the features of effective leadership at different levels for narrowing the gap?

The case-study interviewees did not cover all agencies or all levels of children's services. Most of the interviewees had strategic roles within local authorities and this is reflected in their responses. However, there are some findings from the case-study data about leadership for narrowing the gap at different levels.

Differences between effective leadership for narrowing the gap at the political, strategic and operational level included:

At a political level, effective leaders:

- have a strategic overview, understand the broad nature of narrowing the gap and are aware of the main aims and obstacles; they do not focus on operational details
- understand the vision for narrowing the gap for vulnerable groups and articulate and share this so that the needs of the most vulnerable are prioritised
- have some direct experience of vulnerable groups and can be champions for key groups because they understand their needs.

At the strategic level, effective leaders:

- understand the vision for narrowing the gap and can articulate the vision to operational level staff
- drive forward the vision by translating it into practice and commissioning services which can have an impact; they have responsibility for performance
- have a long-term clarity of direction and are not distracted by operational level issues; they provide a link between the operational and political level and have an awareness of what is working well at the frontline.

At the operational level, effective leaders:

- bring staff working to for narrowing the gap together in the locality; they have an awareness and understanding of the wider strategic context but focus on the details of service delivery to narrow the gap
- have good negotiation skills for dealing with the day- to-day issues while delivering high quality services for vulnerable children and their families
- provide a connection between the locality and strategic level; they feedback information about what is happening on the ground in relation to narrowing the gap, what has been implemented, and what the challenges are.

3.8 Factors influencing effective leadership for narrowing the gap

In addition to the six key features of effective leadership which have contributed to narrowing the gap some additional factors which influence leadership were examined:

- contextual factors
- factors important for developing and growing future leaders.

Contextual factors identified the in literature review and case-study data relate to leadership in general rather than specifically for narrowing the gap (see Appendix 4 for an overview of features of the local context linked to effective leadership generally). Only one specific factor, relating to the size of the local authority, was highlighted by interviewees. It was suggested that working in small geographical areas makes it easier for staff to identify individual vulnerable young people so that support could be targeted in order to narrow the gap.

Similarly, some interviewees' thoughts on the factors important for developing leaders of the future tended to focus on more general points rather than specifically the skills needed for narrowing the gap (see Appendix 5). Specific points that were made however suggested that the development of leaders should focus on their ability to:

- have an emotional connection with vulnerable young people
- articulate the vision and champion the voice of vulnerable groups
- work collaboratively with a range of partners
- analyse and interpret data, and monitor and evaluate performance.

4 Conclusions

This final chapter draws together broad messages from the literature review and the case studies on the contribution of effective leadership to improving outcomes for all children and young people, and to narrowing the gap between vulnerable groups and others.

4.1 What gaps have been narrowed?

The literature reviewed provides little evidence of the impacts of leadership whether at an operational, strategic or political level, on outcomes for children and young people. The literature is also somewhat lacking in relation to an evidence base for the contribution of leadership to narrowing the gap in outcomes for vulnerable groups. In contrast, however, the data collected from case-study local authorities indicates that effective leadership does have the potential to contribute to improving outcomes for vulnerable young people, and to narrowing the gap between disadvantaged groups and other children. The impact of leadership on narrowing the gap was most often evidenced in relation to educational achievement and to improving outcomes for LAC. The contribution of leadership to narrowing the gap was also identified in relation to health-related outcomes, post-16 education, employment and training outcomes (EET), and young people's participation and voice. Although the evidence for this is based mainly on perception, rather than direct demonstrable links, this would suggest that the role of effective leadership in narrowing the gap should not be ignored.

4.2 What is missing from the evidence?

The research literature provides substantial evidence of effective practice in relation to the leadership of public services, particularly schools and more recently children's services. The NFER's previous review of research findings on narrowing the gap (Kendall *et al.*, 2007a) however found limited sources which evidenced the contribution of leadership to improving outcomes generally. This current and more extensive review of the literature supported these findings and identified a particular deficit of evidence linking leadership to narrowing the gap.

While the case-study phase of this research was able to demonstrate a link between leadership and outcomes, and more specifically the contribution of leadership to narrowing the gap, this was on a small scale and the evidence base is not comprehensive. Although there is some evidence linking leadership for narrowing the gap with improvements in educational achievement and outcomes for LAC, there is a particular need to tease out, for example, the role of leadership in improving other ECM outcomes (e.g. staying safe and making a positive contribution) and for other vulnerable groups. Links between the central elements of good leadership and prespecified outcomes were difficult to ascertain. Further work is therefore necessary to help leaders to realise and articulate the links between leadership and outcomes. An audit trail to provide further evidence of how leaders actually impact on outcomes would be beneficial. This could be used to develop the practice of existing leaders; inform the training and development opportunities for developing leaders; and identify prerequisites in terms of the qualities and skills required of leaders in the future.

4.3 What are the distinctive features of leadership for narrowing the gap?

There is evidence from the literature review in Appendix 3 on what effective leadership, in general, looks like. Many case-study interviewees suggested that leadership for narrowing the gap was no different from leadership generally. Narrowing the gap was seen as an objective that leaders were working to achieve, and was just one aspect of the overall development of children's services. Consequently, the same principals and skills of effective leadership applied to narrowing the gap.

However, it may be that leadership for narrowing the gap is something that leaders themselves find difficult to articulate and evidence. When specifically asked about the essential features of leadership for narrowing the gap, interviewees did highlight elements of effective general leadership which could be emphasised or built upon to improve outcomes for vulnerable groups, such as:

- developing a local vision that identifies and prioritises the most vulnerable
- championing the voice of vulnerable groups and encouraging their participation
- using and interpreting good quality data to identify need and provide services for vulnerable children, young people and their families
- fostering collaborative work between services for vulnerable groups
- developing and motivating the workforce to improve outcomes.

Ultimately, having an unremitting focus on vulnerable groups and a strong desire to improve their outcomes is what makes leadership for narrowing the gap distinct.

References

Aubrey, C., Harris, A., Briggs, M. and Muijs, D. (2005). *How do they Manage? An Investigation of Early Childhood Leadership.* Warwick: University of Warwick.

Audit Commission (2008). Are We There Yet? Improving Governance and Resource Management in Children's Trusts. London: Audit Commission [online]. Available: http://www.audit-commission.gov.uk/Products/NATIONAL -REPORT/17AEBDA5-657E-4ef7-80BB-92214D4C04FF/AreWe ThereYet29Oct08REP.pdf [3 March, 2009].

Balarin, M. and Lauder, H. (2008). *The Governance and Administration of English Primary Education* (Primary Review Research Survey 10/2: Interim Reports). Cambridge: University of Cambridge [online]. Available: http://www.primaryreview.org.uk/Downloads/Int_Reps/7.Governance-finance-reform/RS_10-2_report_Governance_administration_080229.pdf [3 March, 2009].

Blank, M. (2005). 'Building the community school movement: vision, organization, and leadership', *New Directions for Youth Development*, **107**, 99–104.

Bond, H. (2004a). 'Asking for the impossible', *Children Now*, 8-14 September, 22–23.

Bond, H. (2004b). 'Do you have what it takes', *Children Now*, 1-7 September, 22–23.

Brookes, S. (2006). 'Out with the old, in with the new: why excellent public leadership makes a difference to partnership working', *The British Journal of Leadership in Public Services*, **2**, 1, 52–64.

Cummings, C., Dyson, A., Mujis, D., Papps, I., Pearson, D., Raffo, C., Tiplady, L., Todd, L. and Crowther, D. (2007). *Evaluation of the Full Service Extended Schools Initiative: Final Report* (DfES Research Report 852). London: DfES [online]. Available: http://www.dfes.gov.uk/research/data/ uploadfiles/RR852.pdf [3 March, 2009]. Cited in National College for School Leadership (2008a). *ECM Premium Project: School Leadership, Every Child Matters and School Standards. Identifying Links between ECM and Improvements in School Standards.* Nottingham: NCSL [online]. Available: http://www.ncsl.org.uk/ecm-premium-project-summary.pdf [3 March, 2009].

Coleman, A. (2006). Lessons from Extended Schools. Nottingham: NCSL.

Craig, J. (2005). *Taking the Wide View: the New Leadership of Extended Schools*. London: Demos.

The Children's Workforce Development Council (2007). *The Lead Professional: Practitioners' Guide*. Leeds: CWDC [online]. Available: http://www.everychildmatters.gov.uk/leadprofessional [3 March, 2009].

Department for Children Schools and Families (2008a). *Children's Trusts: Statutory Guidance on Inter-Agency Cooperation to Improve Well-Being of Children, Young People and their Families.* London: DCSF.

Department for Children Schools and Families (2008b). *The Roles and Responsibilities of the Lead Member for Children's Services and the Director of Children's Services*. London: DCSF [online]. Available: http://www.dcsf.gov.uk/consultations/index.cfm?action=conResults&cons ultationId=1583&external=no&menu=3 [3 March, 2009].

Department for Children, Schools and Families (2008c). *Leading and Managing Children's Services in England: a National Professional Development Framework*. London: DCSF [online]. Available: http://www.dcsf.gov.uk/publications/childrensplan/downloads/7483-DCFS-Lead%20&%20Manage.pdf [3 March, 2009].

Department for Education and Skills (2006). *Championing Children: a Shared Set of Skills, Knowledge and Behaviours for Those Leading and Managing Integrated Children's Services.* Non-Statutory Guidance. London: DfES.

Department for Education and Skills (2007). *Governance Guidance for Sure Start Children's Centres and Extended Schools*. London: DfES [online]. Available: http://publications.teachernet.gov.uk/eOrderingDownload/ Governance%20guidance.pdf [3 March, 2009].

England and Wales. Statutes (2004). *Children Act 2004*. Chapter 31. London: The Stationery Office.

Fox, C. and Butler, G. (2004). 'Partnerships: where next?', *Community Safety Journal*, **3**, 3, 36–44.

Glasby, J. and Peck, E. (2006). *We Have to Stop Meeting Like This: the Governance of Inter-Agency Partnerships. A Discussion Paper*. London: Integrated Care Network [online]. Available: http://networks.csip.org.uk/ _library/Resources/ICN/ICN_Governance_final_3_11_06. pdf [3 March, 2009].

Hallinger, P. (2003). 'Leading educational change: reflections on the practice of instructional and transformational leadership', *Cambridge Journal of Education*, **3**, 33, 329–352.

Harker, R.M., Dobel-Ober, D., Berridge, D. and Sinclair, R. (2004). 'More than the sum of its parts? Inter-professional working in the education of looked after children', *Children and Society*, **18**, 3, 179–193.

HM Government (2005). *Statutory Guidance on Inter-Agency Co-Operation to Improve the Wellbeing of Children: Children's Trusts.* London: DfES [online]. Available http://publications.teachernet.gov.uk/eOrdering Download/1680-2005PDF-EN-01.pdf [3 March, 2009].

Hudson, B. (2005). 'Partnership working and the Children's Services Agenda: is it feasible?' *Journal of Integrated Care*, **13**, 2, 7–12.

The Independent Commission for Good Governance in Public Services (2004). *The Good Governance Standard for Public Services*. London: OPM and CIPFA [online]. Available: http://www.opm.co.uk/resources/papers/policy/Good_Gov_Standard.pdf [3 March, 2009].

Kendall, S., Straw, S., Jones, M., Springate, I. and Grayson, H. (2007a). *Narrowing the Gap in Outcomes for Vulnerable Groups: a Review of the Research Evidence*. Slough: NFER [online]. Available: http://www.nfer. ac.uk/research-areas/pims-data/summaries/narrowing-the-gap-in-outcomes-research-review.cfm [3 March, 2009].

Kendall, S., Lamont, E., Wilkin, A. and Kinder, K. (2007b). *Every Child Matters: How School Leaders in Extended Schools Respond to Local Needs*. Nottingham: NCSL [online]. Available: http://www.ncsl.org.uk/media/AFB/86/ECM-how-school-leaders-respond-full.pdf [3 March, 2009].

Lepper, J. (2007). 'Age of the superheads', *Children and Young People Now*, 5 December, 20–21.

Lord, P., Hart, R., Martin, K. and Atkinson, M. (2009a). *Narrowing the Gap in Outcomes: Governance*. Slough: NFER.

Lord, P., Martin, K., Atkinson, .M. and Mitchell, H. (2009b). *Narrowing the Gap in Outcomes: What Is The Relationship Between Leadership and Governance?* Slough: NFER.

Lownsborough, H. and O'Leary, D. (2005). *The Leadership Imperative: Reforming Children's Services from the Ground Up.* London: Demos.

McCrone, T., Teeman, D., Featherstone, G., Rudd, P., Ahmed, S. and Thompson, H. (2009, forthcoming). *Change Engagement Comparative Study*. Slough: NFER.

Masterson, A., Antrobus, S. and Smith F. (2004). 'National service frameworks: from policy to practice', *Paediatric Nursing*, **16**, 9, 32–34.

Muijs, D. (2007). 'Leadership in full-service extended schools: communicating across cultures', *School Leadership and Management*, **24**, 4, 347–362.

Youth Justice Board for England and Wales (2006). *Summary Interim Findings from the Research Study into the Developing Relationships Between Youth Offending Teams (YOTs) and Children' Trusts.* London: Youth Justice Board for England and Wales [online]. Available: http://www.everychildmatters.gov.uk/_files/31D70299DD797D1C01299E0 A31B5A5E5.pdf [3 March, 2009].

National College for School Leadership (2008a). *ECM Premium Project: School Leadership, Every Child Matters and School Standards. Identifying Links between ECM and Improvements in School Standards.* Nottingham: NCSL [online]. Available: http://www.ncsl.org.uk/ecm-premium-project-summary.pdf [3 March, 2009].

National College for School Leadership (2008b). *What We Are Learning About: Leadership of Every Child Matters* (Report Summary). Nottingham: NCSL [online]. Available: http://www.ncsl.org.uk/what-we-are-learning-about.pdf [3 March, 2009].

Office for Standards in Education (Ofsted) 2007. *Narrowing the Gap: The Inspection of Children's Services* (HMI 070041). London: Ofsted. Available in Kendall, S., Straw, S., Jones, M., Springate, I. and Grayson, H. (2007a). *Narrowing the Gap in Outcomes for Vulnerable Groups: a Review of the Research Evidence*. Slough: NFER [online]. Available: http://www.nfer. ac.uk/research-areas/pims-data/summaries/narrowing-the- gap-in-outcomes-research-review.cfm [3 March, 2009].

Paten, R. and Vangen, S. (2004). *Understanding and Developing Leadership in Multi-Agency Children and Family Teams*. London: DfES.

Pen Green Leadership and Research Base Team (2007). *Realising Leadership: Children's Centre Leaders in Action. The impact of the National Professional*

Robinson, M., Atkinson, M. and Downing, D. (2008). *Supporting Theory Building in Integrated Services Research*. Slough: NFER [online]. Available: http://www.nfer.ac.uk/publications/pdfs/downloadable/CYLe-report.pdf [3 March, 2009].

Russell, H. (2005). *National Evaluation of Local Strategic Partnerships: Issues Paper: Voluntary and Community Sector Engagement in Local Strategic Partnerships.* London: ODPM.

Singleton, D. (2006). 'The multi-agency champions', *Children Now*, 25-31 January, 22–23.

SQW Limited (2005). *Research to Inform the Management and Governance of Children's Centres, Final report to DfES.* London: SQW Limited [online]. Available: http://www.sqw.co.uk/file_download/23 [3 March, 2009].

Sure Start Extended Schools and Childcare Group (2006). *The Governance and Management of Extended Schools and Sure Start Children's Centres.* London: Sure Start [online]. Available: http://www.surestart.gov.uk/_doc/P0002361.PDF [3 March, 2009].

Thompson, L. and Uyeda, K. (2004). *Family Support: Fostering Leadership and Partnership to Improve Access and Quality*. Los Angeles, CA: National Centre for Infant and Early Childhood Health Policy.

Triggle, N. (2008). 'Learning to lead', *Local Government Chronicle*, 7 February, 26–27 [online]. Available: www.lgcplus.com [3 March, 2009].

University of East Anglia with National Children's Bureau (2005). *Realising Children's Trust Arrangements: National Evaluation of Children's Trusts. Phase 1 Report* (DfES Research Report 682). London: DfES [online]. Available: http://publications.dcsf.gov.uk/eOrderingDownload/RR682.pdf [3 March, 2009].

University of East Anglia with the National Children's Bureau (2007). *Children's Trust Pathfinders: Innovative Partnerships for Improving the Wellbeing of Children and Young People. National Evaluation of Children's Trust Pathfinders Final Report* (DfES Research Report 839). London: DfES. [online]. Available: http://publications.dcsf.gov.uk/eOrderingDownload/ RR839.pdf [3 March, 2009]. Utting, D., Painter, A., Renshaw, J. and Hutchinson, R. (2008). *Better Outcomes for Children and Young People: from Talk to Action*. London: DCSF [online]. Available: http://www.rcslt.org/news/from_talk_to_action [3 March, 2009].

White, R., Harland, J., Kendall, S. and Kinder, K. (2008). *The Role of the Lead Member for Children's Services: Final Report* (LGA Research Report F/SR268). Slough: NFER [online]. Available: http://www.nfer.ac.uk/publications/pdfs/downloadable/00RCPreport.pdf [3 March, 2009].



Appendix 1: About the literature review

The literature review aimed to identify empirically based research on leadership carried out in the UK since 2002 with a particular focus on narrowing the gap in outcomes for vulnerable groups.

A1.1 The search strategy

The search strategy involved three key lines of enquiry:

- systematic scanning and identification of evidence from a range of relevant academic databases
- scanning and collection of information and documents from appropriate websites and internet subject gateways
- the collection of current policy and practice documents from local authorities via the EMIE at NFER link network (supplemented by an email request from researchers to directors of children's services involved in the national Narrowing the Gap work).

The criteria for inclusion were:

- evidence from empirically-based research and evaluation
- evidence on effective features of leadership
- evidence of impact (including narrowed gaps) for vulnerable groups
- evidence relating impacts and outcomes to effective leadership practice
- evidence from the UK from 2002 onwards.

A1.2 Databases and key words

Database searches for the project sought to identify evidence of how leadership is contributing to narrowing the gap in outcomes for vulnerable groups. Research carried out in the UK since 2002 was included, with a particular focus on England and on research undertaken since 2004. Searches were conducted during the period 5 September – 7 October 2008.

Search strategies for all databases were developed by using terms from the relevant thesauri where these were available, along with free-text searching. A set of terms was developed to explore the concept of leadership, and this was combined with sets covering individual service-providing agencies, the integrated and/or collaborative working between them, and the outcomes and effectiveness of such working. The keywords used in the searches, together with a brief description of each of the databases searched, are outlined below. Throughout, the * symbol has been used to denote truncation of terms, (exp) the 'explosion' of a thesaurus term to include all narrower terms, and (ft) the use of free-text search terms.

Applied Social Sciences Index and Abstracts (ASSIA)

ASSIA is an index of articles from over 600 international English language social science journals. The database provides unique coverage of special educational and developmental aspects of children.

Leadership set

#1	Leaders
#2	Leadership
#3	Leadership style
#4	Democratic leadership
#5	Transactional leadership
#6	Transformational leadership
#7	Directors
#8	Management teams
#9	Middle management

#1 or #2 or #3 ... or #9 #10

Integrated/collaborative working set

- #11 Integrated management
- #12 Integrated services
- Service integration #13
- #14 Interagency collaboration
- #15 Joint ventures
- #16 Joint working
- #17 Children* service* (ft)
- #18 Children* centre* (ft)
- #19 Children* trust* (ft)
- #20 Multiagency (ft) or multi agency (ft)
- #21 Interagency (ft) or inter agency (ft)
- #22 Local strategic partnership* (ft)
- #23 Local safeguarding* (ft) or LSCB* (ft)
- #11 or #12 or #13 ... or #23 #24
- #25 #10 and #24

British Education Index (BEI)

BEI provides bibliographic references to 350 British and selected European English-language periodicals in the field of education and training, plus developing coverage of national report and conference literature.

Leadership set

- #1 Leaders
- #2 Leadership
- #3 **Community leaders**
- Youth leaders #4
- #5 Informal leadership
- #6 Leadership qualities

- #7 Leadership responsibility
- #8 Leadership styles
- #9 Leadership training
- #10 Middle management
- #11 Management teams
- #12 School leadership (ft)
- #13 Lead professional* (ft)
- #14 Leadership development (ft)
- #15 Leadership role* (ft)
- #16 Leadership skill* (ft)
- #17 Distributed leadership (ft)
- #18 Effective leadership (ft)
- #19 Transformational leadership (ft)
- #20 Director* and children* and service* (ft)
- #21 #1 or #2 or #3 ... or #20

Integrated/collaborative working set

#22	Agency cooperation	
#23	Integrated service* (ft)	
#24	Integrated children* service* (ft)	
#25	Children* service* (ft)	
#26	Partnership* and children* and service* (ft)	
#27	Children* trust* (ft)	
#28	Children* centre* (ft)	
#29	Local strategic partnership* (ft)	
#30	Local safeguarding children* board* (ft)	
#31	LSCB* (ft)	
#32	Interagency or inter agency (ft)	
#33	Multiagency or multi agency (ft)	
#34	Joint working (ft)	
#35	Team working (ft)	
#36	Integrated working (ft)	
#37	Every child matters (ft)	
#38	ECM (ft)	
#39	#22 or #23 or #24 or #38	
#40	#21 and #39	
Individual agencies set		

- #41 Schools (exp)
- #42 Local education authorities
- #43 Local authority* (ft)

- #44 Public agencies
- #45 Social agencies
- #46 Voluntary agencies
- #47 Welfare agencies
- #48 Youth agencies
- #49 Public service occupations
- #50 Youth service
- #51 Police
- #52 Primary health care
- #53 Youth offending team* (ft)
- #54 Social care (ft)
- #55 Primary care (ft)
- #56 Primary care trust* (ft)
- #57 PCT* (ft)
- #58 #41 or #42 or #43 ... or #57
- #59 #21 and #58

Outcomes/effectiveness set

- #60 Models
- #61 Theories
- #62 Theoretical framework* (ft)
- #63 Evaluation
- #64 Evaluation criteria
- #65 Organisational effectiveness
- #66 Programme effectiveness
- #67 Performance
- #68 Performance indicators
- #69 Effective (ft) or effectiveness (ft)
- #70 Outcome* (ft)
- #71 Narrowing the gap (ft)
- #72 What works (ft)
- #73 Good practice (ft)
- #74 Best practice (ft)
- #75 #60 or #61 or #62 ... or #74
- #76 #21 and #75

Current Educational Research in the United Kingdom (CERUK plus)

CERUK plus contains current and recently-completed commissioned research, PhD level work and practitioner research, covering all aspects of education (all age ranges from early years to adult) and children's services. Records retrieved by any relevant keyword were examined.

- #1 Lead professionals
- #2 Leadership
- #3 Leadership development
- #4 Leadership responsibility
- #5 Leadership role
- #6 Leadership skills
- #7 Leadership styles
- #8 Leadership training
- #9 Middle management
- #10 Directors of children's services
- #11 School leadership
- #12 Effective leadership
- #13 #1 or #2 or #3 ... or #12

ChildData

ChildData is produced by the National Children's Bureau. It has four information databases: bibliographic information on books, reports and journal articles (including some full text access); directory information on more than 3,000 UK and international organisations concerned with children; Children in the News, an index to press coverage of children's issues since early 1996; and an indexed guide to conferences and events.

Leadership set

- #1 Leader*
- #2 Lead professionals
- #3 Management
- #4 #1 or #2 or #3

Integrated/collaborative working set

- #5 Integrated care
- #6 Interagency relations
- #7 Multiagency
- #8 Multiagency centres
- #9 Cooperation
- #10 Partnership
- #11 Partnership schemes
- #12 Children's trusts
- #13 Children's centres
- #14 Local government
- #15 Schools
- #16 Police
- #17 Youth offending teams
- #18 Primary care

- #19 Primary care trusts
- #20 Voluntary and community organisations
- #21 Social services
- #22 Youth work
- #23 #5 or #6 or #7 ... or #22
- #24 #4 and #23

Educational Resources Information Center (ERIC)

ERIC is sponsored by the United States Department of Education and is the largest education database in the world. It indexes over 725 periodicals and currently contains more than 7,000,000 records. Coverage includes research documents, journal articles, technical reports, program descriptions and evaluations and curricula material.

Leadership set

- #1 Leaders
- #2 Community leaders
- #3 Youth leaders
- #4 Leadership
- #5 Leadership effectiveness
- #6 Instructional leadership
- #7 Leadership qualities
- #8 Leadership responsibility
- #9 Leadership styles
- #10 Teacher leadership
- #11 Leadership training
- #12 Transformational leadership
- #13 Middle management
- #14 Management team* (ft)
- #15 School leadership (ft)
- #16 Lead professional* (ft)
- #17 Director* (ft) and Children* service* (ft)
- #18 Leadership development (ft)
- #19 Leadership role* (ft)
- #20 Leadership skill* (ft)
- #21 Distributed leadership (ft)
- #22 #1 or #2 or #3 ... or #21

Integrated/collaborative working set

- #23 Agency cooperation
- #24 Integrated services
- #25 Partnerships in education

- #26 Children's service* (ft)
- #27 Integrated children's service* (ft)
- #28 Children's trusts (ft)
- #29 Children's cent* (ft)
- #30 Local strategic partnership* (ft)
- #31 Local safeguarding children* (ft)
- #32 LSCB* (ft)
- #33 Interagency (ft) or inter agency (ft)
- #34 Multiagency (ft) or multi agency (ft)
- #35 Joint working (ft)
- #36 Joint venture* (ft)
- #37 Team working (ft)
- #38 Integrated working (ft)
- #39 Every child matters (ft)
- #40 ECM (ft)
- #41 #23 or #24 or #25 ... or #40
- #42 #22 and #41

Social Care Online

This database, compiled by the Social Care Institute for Excellence (SCIE), provides information about all aspects of social care, from fostering, to mental health and human resources.

#1 Leadership

Individual agencies set

- #2 Schools
- #3 Local authorities
- #4 Public sector
- #5 Social welfare
- #6 Strategic health authorities
- #7 Health authorities
- #8 NHS trusts
- #9 Youth work
- #10 Youth offending teams
- #11 Police
- #12 Social care provision
- #13 Primary care
- #14 Primary care trusts
- #15 Voluntary organisations
- #16 Voluntary sector
- #17 #2 or #3 or #4 ... or #16
- #18 #1 and #17

Integrated/collaborative working set

- #19 Collaboration
- #20 Multi-disciplinary services
- #21 Integrated services
- #22 Children's services
- #23 Children's trusts
- #24 Interagency cooperation
- #25 Joint working
- #26 Teamwork
- #27 #19 or #20 or #21 ... or #26
- #28 #1 and #27

Web searches

The following websites were searched for relevant publications:

• National College for School Leadership - http://www.ncsl.org.uk

NHS Leadership Qualities Framework - http://www.leadershipqualities-framework.institute.nhs.uk

- Society of Local Authority Chief Executives and Senior Managers (SOLACE) - http://www.solace.org.uk
- Virtual Staff College http://www.virtualstaffcollege.co.uk

Additionally, documents pertaining to the National Evaluation of Local Strategic Partnerships were located on the following sites:

- Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy http://www.cipfa.org.uk
- Department for Communities and Local Government http://www.communities.gov.uk
- European Urban Knowledge Network http://www.eukn.org/eukn
- Local Government Centre, Warwick Business School http://www2.warwick.ac.uk/fac/soc/wbs/research/lgc

Identification of the most relevant sources

Initial searches by library and EMIE at NFER staff identified over 90 sources. The abstracts for these sources were examined and just over two- thirds were selected for more in-depth examination. From this, using the criteria outlined above, 25 sources were reviewed.

A1.3 Extent and robustness of the evidence

Much has been written in on the leadership of public services. The review identified a number of key documents including: *Leading and Managing Children's Services in England: A National Professional Development Framework* (DCSF, 2008c); *Better Outcomes for Children and Young People – From Talk To Action* (Utting *et al.*, 2008); *Every Child Matters. How School Leaders in Extended Schools Respond to Local Needs* (Kendall *et al.*,

2007b); and *What Are We Learning About: Leadership of Every Child Matters* (NCSL, 2008b).

However, the literature relating explicitly to leadership for narrowing the gap is relatively limited. Only four sources referred specifically to narrowing the gap and leadership. Demonstrating the impact on young people at a remove from an 'activity' such as leadership is problematic and empirical links between the central elements of good leadership and pre-specified outcomes are difficult to ascertain.

Taking this into account, we set out a brief overview of the characteristics of the reviewed literature, which showed that:

- the majority of sources focus on school leadership, particularly the leadership of extended schools and community schools; one source relates to the leadership of children's centres
- three of the sources focus specifically on the leadership of children's services and one on the role of the lead member for children's services
- around two-fifths of the sources focus on effective leadership for partnership or multi-agency working
- one of the sources focuses on leadership for a specific vulnerable group, looked after children (LAC)
- the majority of texts included in the review look at effective features of leadership
- there is little evidence on the outcomes of leadership practices for children and young people, and particularly few relating to narrowing the gap.

Appendix 2: About the case studies

The case studies aimed to identify practice-based evidence on leadership with a particular focus on narrowing the gap in outcomes for vulnerable groups. (The same case-study sample was also used for the parallel NFER study on governance).

A2.1 Identifying case-study local authorities

In order to inform the selection of case-study local authorities, researchers scanned the documentation received from the email requests to local authorities for relevant leads on effective practice and evidence of improved outcomes for vulnerable groups. In addition, researchers examined the most recent Joint Area Review report for a sample of Narrowing the Gap authorities to note where strong leadership practice had been identified.

A2.2 The case-study sample

Researchers conducted semi-structured interviews with a range of staff in five local authorities' children's services departments. A total of 25 interviews were conducted. This included interviews with six directors or assistant directors of children's services and four councillors/lead members for children's services. The sample also included other senior strategic managers such as the head of policy and planning, head of universal services, the chair of the Local Safeguarding Children's Board (LSCB) and executive board. Table A2 provides a full breakdown of the interviewees by local authority and role.

Local Authority	Interviewee role	Number of interviewees
А	Director/assistant director of children's' services	2
	Councillor: lead member for children's services	1
	Chair (of executive governing board)	1
	Strategic manager (head of specialist services)	1
В	Director/assistant director of children's' services	1
	Councillor	2
	Strategic manager (head of learning and achieve- ment, head of participation and inclusion, head of leadership, management and succession planning, school improvement)	4
С	Director/assistant director of children's services	1
	Chair (of LSCB)	1
	Councillor (lead member for children's services)	1
	Strategic manager (assistant director of strategic services, senior strategy manager, head of universal services, acting assistant director of specialist services, services manager for safe- guarding children)	5

Table A2 Breakdown of interviewees by authority

Local Authority	Interviewee role	Number of interviewees
D	Director/assistant director of children's services Strategic manager (head of strategic planning for change, head of innovation, learning and care)	2 2
E	Strategic manager (head of policy and planning)	1

Appendix 3: Key features of effective leadership from the literature

Effective leaders are child centred and focused on ECM outcomes

Effective leaders:

- reinforce the message amongst their staff that a focus on ECM is important for meeting the wider needs of children and championing the vision of improving outcomes (NCSL, 2008a; Bond, 2004b; DfES, 2006)
- have the ability to be truly child centred in focus and are prepared to build services with them (Bond, 2004a)
- ensure that the focus on outcomes and improving services for children, young people and their families can be understood and sustained at every level of the organisation (DCSF, 2008c)
- bring staff and outside stakeholders together in a process where they can work constructively to plan better outcomes for children (Blank, 2005; DfES, 2006; DCSF, 2008c)
- provide clarity about what must be achieved and are advocates of high quality, accessible and customer-focused children's services (DfES, 2006)
- undertake systematic pursuit of the ECM agenda and provide a quality of leadership that is able to share a vision and sustain moral energy (NCSL, 2008b)
- shape service culture proactively around children's needs and strive for a service that responds flexibly and effectively to the changing needs of children, young people and families (DCSF, 2008c).

Effective leaders have strategic drive and champion a vision

Effective leaders:

- bring together the strategic drive and the strategic vision to effect and facilitate change and progress (NCSL, 2008a)
- champion the vision of improving outcomes, develop a vision for children's services in their area and are able to communicate it persuasively (Utting *et al.*, 2008; DCSF, 2008c; Bond, 2004a)
- provide direction and articulate the vision for services, as well as making it happen (DfES, 2006)
- understand strategic commissioning and policy development and are able to translate strategic vision into local plans through collaboration (DfES, 2006)
- display leadership across the whole system though their behaviour and use the collective knowledge base to challenge the status quo (DfES, 2006)
- provide clarity about how improved service performance and customer satisfaction can be achieved (DfES, 2006)

- systematically pursue the ECM agenda and develop a shared vision, a shared sense of purpose and a shared commitment to change (NCSL, 2008b; Hallinger, 2003)
- have a strong personality, passion and drive, adopt a wide range of approaches to encourage buy-in from staff (Harker *et al.*, 2004; Kendall *et al.*, 2007b).

Effective leaders focus on community engagement and the involvement of children and families

Effective leaders:

- recognise the role that communities can have in facilitating ECM outcomes and focus on community transformation (NCSL, 2008b)
- take on leadership responsibilities that go beyond the boundaries of their service into the wider community (NCSL, 2008b)
- adopt an approach that has service users at its core and believe in genuine student, parent and community consultation (NCSL, 2008b)
- engage in community-wide needs assessments and mapping and work in partnership with families and the community based (Blank, 2005; Craig, 2005; Thompson and Uyeda, 2004)
- empower communities and facilitate the involvement of children and families in service design and delivery (Aubrey *et al.*, 2005; DfES, 2006; Kendall *et al.*, 2007b; Lownsborough and O'Leary, 2005)
- work actively to engage the community and build knowledge, trust and resilience within the community, families, children and young people (DfES, 2006)
- involve families, residents, school staff and community partners in building and planning and empower parents as effective learners (NCSL, 2008b).

Effective leaders foster a professional learning culture

Effective leaders:

- place importance on developing their service as a learning organisation and are committed to learning at all levels in the system (NCSL, 2008a)
- recognise the need for continuing professional development and support for staff (NCSL, 2008b)
- make the link between delivering high quality service and giving professional development a priority (Aubrey *et al.*, 2005)
- provide access to leadership programmes and opportunities for leadership development (Craig, 2005)
- nurture professional skills and aspirations of team members; encourage informal knowledge sharing and joint learning (DfES, 2006)
- place a high priority on the professional development and view taking initiative and exercising responsibility as a vital form of professional development (NCSL, 2008b)

- encourage a climate where staff engage in continuous learning and routinely share their learning with others (Hallinger, 2003)
- create conditions in which others are committed and self motivated to work towards improvement (Hallinger, 2003)
- encourage reflective professional practice through their own behavioural management style (DCSF, 2008c).

Effective leaders are able to drive and manage change

Effective leaders:

- use the values underpinning ECM to drive change and pace change appropriately (NCSL, 2008b; DfES, 2006; Lownsborough and O'Leary, 2005)
- adopt a strategic overview and build sustainable leadership capacity and system-wide development and change (NCSL, 2008a; Bond, 2004a)
- recognise the importance of securing cultural change so that the focus on outcomes can be understood and sustained at every level of the organisation (Lownsborough and O'Leary, 2005; Bond, 2004a; Utting *et al.*, 2008)
- articulate the rationale, benefits and impacts of change for individuals, the local authority and partners and understand the nature of change required (DfES, 2006; Lownsborough and O'Leary, 2005)
- are inclusive and facilitative in their approach and develop the team's ability to plan, manage and instigate change (DfES, 2006; DCSF, 2008c)
- establish a shared understanding and a shared language, engage in transformational change and focus on developing a shared vision and shared commitment to change (DfES, 2006; Lownsborough and O'Leary, 2005)
- they respect colleagues at all stages of embracing change and adapt their skill-set to the different stages of change (Lownsborough and O'Leary, 2005).

Effective political leaders:

- Have the relevant knowledge and information: improved knowledge and information is vital to underpin the lead member's ability to lead the political drive (White *et al.*, 2008)
- Develop appropriate skills: previous political and professional experience of lead members is important in the development of the skills required to drive forward the agenda within children's services (White *et al.*, 2008)
- Engage and share with the wider membership: effective lead members are able to share the corporate parenting role and responsibility through elected members (White *et al.*, 2008)
- Have personal characteristics which further enhance their role: their personal reputation and credibility amongst colleagues enhance their leadership abilities (White *et al.*, 2008)

- Prioritise working with young people: effective lead members have a strong corporate commitment to consulting with and engaging young people (Ofsted, 2007).

Appendix 4: Contextual factors that best support local leadership generally

The features of the local context linked to effective leadership were identified in the literature review.

- A collaborative local context: the promotion and supportive collaborative local context is important for facilitating local leadership for addressing ECM (e.g. NCSL, 2008a; Blank, 2005; Robinson *et al.*, 2008). Effective leaders build on local willingness to collaborate and local authorities can support them by acting as key facilitators for engaging partners, e.g. by providing forums for collaborative planning (Thompson and Uyeda, 2004). Two sources identified that a collaborative local context needed to be supported by dedicated funding to be effective (Blank, 2005; Harker *et al.*, 2004).
- Involvement, children families and the wider community: it is important that there is a locally recognised need to encompass strong involvement of children, families and communities in service design, without which it is suggested that integrated services are likely to be ineffective (Robinson *et al.*, 2008). There needs to be local recognition of the role that the community can have in improving outcomes and a shift from organisational improvement to community transformation (NCSL, 2008a).
- **Providing new forms of support for leaders**: support for leaders needs to be focused, not only on good practice, but also on building their confidence and understanding to tackle the professional and policy questions raised (Craig, 2005). There is a need for bespoke leadership development that can help them meet the kinds of challenge they are facing locally and for the development of local support networks (Kendall *et al.*, 2007b). There is also a role for the local authority to coordinate training and research activities, to serve as a clearing house for information and the creation of research networks to disseminate information on evidence-based effective practice (Thompson and Uyeda, 2004).
- **Policies and frameworks**: these need to emphasise a corporate approach and ensure that principles are transformed into practice; sustaining the momentum of inter-professional activities requires additional supportive structures and mechanisms to ensure accountability and provide a sense of ownership as well as effective leadership (Harker *et al.*, 2004).

Appendix 5: Factors important for growing and developing leaders of the future

The following themes were identified by case-study interviewees as important in growing and developing of leaders generally for the future:

- **Succession planning**: interviewees highlight the importance of looking ahead to identify when (and which) posts within the organisation are likely to become vacant. As one interviewee noted: 'by identifying where gaps are then we know what we are trying to grow'. The need to recognise succession planning at a national level was also noted.
- Early identification of leadership skills/abilities in staff: this was considered important in order to fill future leadership posts; identifying workers with the potential and desire to progress so that skills can be nurtured and developed is key; creating a pool of candidates with high leadership potential is also recommended.
- Providing ongoing training, support and development opportunities: ongoing professional development opportunities (e.g. mentoring, shadowing and modelling) enable staff to gain experience of the leadership role and develop the necessary skills, knowledge and understanding; senior leaders need to be committed to providing opportunities for staff to take on leadership tasks and be supportive of requests for training and leadership experience.
- Valuing staff and outlining the benefits of leadership roles: interviewees believe that ensuring potential leaders feel valued by the organisation and 'selling' the benefits of leadership roles (e.g. improved pay and conditions, professional development opportunities and job satisfaction) is key to motivating and retaining existing staff who might fulfil future roles.

The factors for growing future leaders identified within the literature supported some of the views outlined above by interviewees. Six key principles emerged.

- Foster a learning culture: a commitment to learning at all levels of the system and the view that everyone, staff as well as children are continually learning (NCSL, 2008a); a long-term training strategy; the professional development of staff and building knowledge base within the team (DfES, 2006).
- Facilitate distributed leadership: distributed leadership is integral to securing system-wide development and change and current leaders need to recognise that their services are the training grounds for future leaders (NCSL, 2008a); leadership programmes need a strong commitment to succession planning and distributed leadership (NCSL 2008b).
- Empower and motivate staff/ownership: effective leadership that recognises the specialist knowledge of others and engenders the empowerment of others through sharing knowledge and responsibilities (Aubrey *et al.*, 2005).
- Offer a supportive environment: support risk-taking behaviour and learning by mistakes as well as from successes; use coaching, mentoring or critical friends to keep the challenge at the cutting edge (NCSL, 2008b).

- **Appoint and induct new staff**: the appointment of new staff with specific criteria and encourage them to grasp leadership opportunities through secondments and further qualifications in which they use key focus areas in the school for their research (NCSL, 2008b).
- **Provide training and development**: equip future effective leaders by developing local authority programmes which help them to understand their strengths and weaknesses, including partnership working and change management; have a talent pool in the region for capacity building and investment in younger management personnel to become senior leaders of the future; provide a forum for recruitment, promotion and training; provide opportunities to shadow managers in other organisations to develop skills (Triggle, 2008).

National Foundation for Educational Research The Mere Upton Park Slough Berkshire SL1 2DQ Tel: 01753 574123 Fax: 01753 691 632 Email: enquires@nfer.ac.uk Web: www.nfer.ac.uk



